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A young patient uses  
virtual reality to learn about 
the hospital process
UCLH Charity funded a virtual 
reality app for young children 
who are approaching surgery. 
Animated characters explain the 
hospital process to these patients, 
who can use the app to see the 
room they will visit on the day. 
This significantly reduces their 
anxiety on the day of operation.  

  A YEAR OF ACTIVITIES

 1 Cutting my hair for Mummy

 2  Walking to Wembley

 3  Racing in the London Marathon

 4 Swimming in the Serpentine 

 5  The Wild Warrior fun run

 6  Christmas concert with the 
staff choir

 7  Cycling for the surgery and 
cancer centre 

1 2 

3 4 5 

6 7 

Read more about our work:  
uclhcharity.org.uk
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MESSAGE FROM 
OUR CHAIRMAN

The NHS is undoubtedly one of the nation’s most beloved 
institutions, and the country celebrated its 70th anniversary in 
July – what an occasion! A great opportunity to recognise our 
achievements and consider how we can help contribute to a 
future that is patient-centred and sustainable.  

This is my first annual report as 
Chairman of UCLH Charity. Over 
the past 70 years, hospitals and 
their related charities have worked 
closely together to deliver excellent 
care to patients and serve their local 
communities. Our close relationship 
with UCLH continued in 2017/18, 
and the charity’s migration to 
independent status has afforded 
us more freedom to carry out our 
activities and maximise our support 
to UCLH.  

The articles covered in this report 
illustrate how we go about making 
a difference for our patients and 
staff and how our supporters have 
enthusiastically helped UCLH. 

One of UCLH’s aims is to become 
a research hospital. We have 
contributed towards the hospital’s 
new electronic healthcare records 
system, which will allow clinicians 
and researchers to improve almost 
every step in the research life 
cycle – from recruiting patients to 
letting staff know which patients are 
participating in trials. Staying with 
this theme, we made a grant to the 
Chief Executive of UCLH, who has 
used it to fund a number of research 
fellowships for junior doctors, in 
order to nurture and retain clinical 
research talent at the hospital.

One of our main funding strategies 
is to support projects which 
transform healthcare services 
for patients at UCLH. This year 
we invested in a major critical-
care informatics project, which 
will improve the way the hospital 

captures data relating to patients 
and help clinical decision making.

A key priority for UCLH is the new 
cancer and surgery centre, which 
will house proton beam therapy, 
an advanced form of radiotherapy, 
in the floors below ground. The 
hospital still needs a significant 
amount of funding to make the 
facility a centre of excellence for 
patients. We have therefore agreed 
to support UCLH’s fundraising 
strategy and have also updated the 
UCLH Charity brand to make sure 
our vision is clearly communicated. 

Last year we reported the strategic 
acquisition of the Middlesex 
Hospital Annexe in Fitzrovia. With 
the approval of Camden Council, 
we are now creating a mixed-
use development consisting of 
residential accommodation and 
clinical space. Funds raised from the 
development will be invested back 
into UCLH to enhance patient care.  

For the next year, the charity will 
continue to do all we can to support 
UCLH to develop new models of 
healthcare. I look forward to seeing 
these ambitious ideas become 
outstanding realities. 
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James Thorne
Chairman
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OUR OBJECTIVES

OUR YEAR IN NUMBERS

Our charity supports UCLH NHS Foundation 
Trust, and our work focuses on four objectives 
to improve life for patients.

SUPPORTING  
PATIENT CARE

We support the Trust’s 
strategy to improve the patient 

experience at UCLH. All our 
activities are aimed at making 

patients’ lives better during 
their stay in the hospital.
Read about our impact  

on pages 8–9

ENVIRONMENT 
AND EQUIPMENT

We fund state-of-the-art 
equipment to enable the hospital 
to provide the best patient care. 

We also provide funding to  
make the hospital environment 
more pleasant for patients and 

visitors during their stay.
Read about our impact  

on pages 12–13

TRAINING AND 
DEVELOPING STAFF

We provide funding for training  
and education to ensure that staff  
at UCLH are kept up to date with 

health care developments and are 
able to apply the latest clinical 

techniques to help our patients. 
Read about our impact  

on pages 10–11

ADVANCING 
RESEARCH

We fund a wide range of  
clinical research projects at 
UCLH working to translate 
cutting-edge research and 
innovation into new and 

improved treatments  
for patients.

Read about our impact 
on pages 14–15

£21.2M
Total income for 2017–18
was up by 7% on last year

£20.9M
Total spend for 2017–18
was up by 15% on last year

Total spent on charitable 
activities for 2017–18
was up by 16% on last year

£13.9M
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ABOUT US

OUR LEGACY

We are the main charity 
supporting UCLH, one of the 
largest NHS hospital trusts in 
the country, consisting of five 
hospitals in the heart  
of London. 

Everything we do is to help patients 
at UCLH. We provide grant funding 
for projects that are over and 
above NHS provision. We support 
patients and staff at UCLH through 
training, the donation of additional 
equipment, improvements to 
clinical services and pioneering 
research projects.

UCLH Charity was established as 
a result of a series of mergers and 
restructurings over the years. The 
two most recent restructures were 
in 2000 and 2017. April 2000 saw the 
merger of three separate charities: 
UCH Special Trustees, UCLH NHS 
Charity, and the Middlesex Hospital 
Special Trustees – which can trace 
its history back to 1745, when the 
Middlesex Hospital was founded 
by Royal Charter as a charity. In 
April 2017, UCLH Charity became an 
independent charity, regulated by 
the Charity Commission. 

 OUR STRATEGY
  To ensure that we can achieve 

our mission, our charity has four 
strategic aims, which are to: 

1  Ensure the charity is run efficiently 
by knowledgeable trustees and 
well-trained and effective staff, and 
characterised by good governance 
and clear understanding of UCLH 
NHS Foundation Trust strategy

2  Maximise capital through the 
investment strategy

3  Maximise income by investing 
in commercial opportunities and 
property

4  Create grants that are over and 
above NHS provision and in line 
with the strategic position of UCLH 
NHS Foundation Trust

UCLH
  We support all aspects of the 

Foundation Trust, which comprise:

•  University College Hospital site 
incorporating the Elizabeth Garrett 
Anderson Wing and the Middlesex 
Hospital Tower and:

 - UCH at Westmoreland Street

 - UCH Macmillan Cancer Centre

 -  Institute of Sport, Exercise and 
Medicine

 -  Hospital for Tropical Diseases

•  The National Hospital for Neurology 
and Neurosurgery (NHNN), including 
the NHNN at Cleverland Street

• The Eastman Dental Hospital

•  The Royal National Throat, Nose and 
Ear Hospital

•  The Royal London Hospital for 
Integrated Medicine

KEY SUPPORT FACTS

1M
  Over 1 million patients treated 

annually at UCLH

Pathway model of care 2009
Pathway, now the UK’s leading homeless 
healthcare charity, began life with a  
UCLH Charity grant to improve healthcare 
for homeless patients. Pathway has so 
far helped 12 hospitals across England 
and Wales to set up homeless teams, 
supporting over 3500 people every year.

Cotton Rooms patient hotel 2012
We built the UK’s first purpose-designed patient 
hotel so that ambulatory patients can receive 
treatment during the day without needing to 
take up a hospital bed. The hotel is conveniently 
located near the UCH Macmillan Cancer Centre. 

£13.9M
 The Charity’s annual support spend
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OUR FUTURE AMBITIONS

Neuromuscular Complex Care Centre 
2014
We built the UK’s first centre providing multi-
disciplinary care for those with neuromuscular 
diseases. This holistic model replaced the 
previously fragmented service, and drastically 
improved patient care, thereby saving money for 
the NHS.

Integrating machine learning  
at UCLH
Our campaign to use advanced 
analytics to predict patient outcomes 
and improve the patient pathway 
started with the intensive care unit 
(ICU). Read more about our first steps 
to achieving this on page 15.

Bedford Passage  
Development 2020
This annexe is our latest development 
project: in it the former Middlesex 
Hospital Annexe will become a 
mixed-use development consisting of 
residential units and a clinical space 
for a healthcare hub.
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MEASURING 
OUR IMPACT

  Systematic genetic testing for ovarian 
cancer patients

  We funded a pilot programme to extend genetic 
testing for the cancer-susceptible gene BRCA to all 
ovarian cancer patients, to identify whether patients 
would benefit from a targeted cancer drug, PARP 
inhibitors, and whether family members were at risk of 
developing the disease. Genetic testing had previously 
been offered only to patients with a significant family 
history of breast or ovarian cancer. The results of the 
pilot showed that systematic genetic testing would 
benefit many patients with ovarian cancer.

 RESULTS: 
•  122 patients with high-grade ovarian cancer tested for 

BRCA mutation

•  18 (14.8%) found to carry BRCA mutation, 4 of whom 
did not meet previous criteria for genetic testing –  
and would have been missed

ADVANCING 
RESEARCH

ENVIRONMENT 
AND EQUIPMENT

  A portable diagnostic tool to help the 
Find and Treat team

  Find and Treat is a specialist outreach team that helps 
to diagnose and treat conditions among homeless 
people, drug or alcohol users, vulnerable migrants 
and people who have been in prison. This population 
experiences extreme rates of morbidity and mortality 
and multiple barriers to accessing healthcare, 
resulting in high rates of undiagnosed conditions  
such as hepatitis C (HCV) and liver disease.

  We funded diagnostic equipment including point-
of-care tests (for diagnosing HCV) and a portable 
Fibroscan (for diagnosing liver fibrosis and identifying 
those with scarring of the liver – cirrhosis).

 RESULTS:
•  320 individuals – more than half of them homeless 

and hard to reach – screened between September 
2016 and August 2018

•  One-third found to have some liver disease and 15% 
to have liver cirrhosis – all might have been missed 
without the screening 

•  Chronically infected HCV individuals and those with 
severe fibrosis or cirrhosis referred to, and supported 
into, specialist care

320
ADDITIONAL 

HOMELESS & VULNERABLE PEOPLE
SCANNED SINCE SEPTEMBER 2016

122
OVARIAN CANCER PATIENTS

TESTED FOR
GENE MUTATION



UCLH CHARITY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–18  7

	 	Helping	staff	talk	through	difficult	
emotions resulting in patient care 

  We fund the training of the facilitators (who are UCLH 
clinical staff) on Schwartz rounds at UCLH. Schwartz 
rounds are forums that allow healthcare workers from 
all disciplines to share stories from their working lives 
and to explore their emotions and reactions when 
caring for patients. 

 RESULTS:
•  90% of those attending Schwartz rounds from April 

2014 to July 2018 said case discussed was relevant to 
their daily work 

•  82% said they had gained knowledge that will help 
them meet patients’ needs 

•  89% said they had gained insight into how others 
think and feel in caring for patients

• 95% said they would attend Schwartz rounds again

•  98% said they would recommend Schwartz rounds to 
friends or colleagues

SUPPORTING  
PATIENT CARE

TRAINING AND 
DEVELOPING STAFF

 Transforming end-of-life care
  In August 2014 we provided three years’ funding  

for a project that prepares clinicians and other 
healthcare professionals for end-of-life conversations. 
The success of the project led to its securing funding  
on a permanent basis from UCLH in December 2017.

 RESULTS:
•  More than 3,300 staff from all disciplines received this 

training between August 2014 and March 2018

•  Staff confidence in all aspects of care increased by up 
to 30% in three to six months after training

•  UCLH now using ‘excellent care in the last days of life’ 
documentation with 60% of patients with life-limiting 
illnesses (up from 34% in August 2014)

•  More than 80 bereaved relatives provided feedback 
on care given to loved ones who died at UCLH during 
2017–18. 95% of these reported that care received was 
good or excellent, 89% that their loved one was treated 
with dignity and respect

95%

REPORT THAT
THE CARE RECEIVED

WAS GOOD OR EXCELLENT

89%

STAFF GAINED INSIGHT
INTO HOW OTHERS THINK AND FEEL

IN CARING FOR PATIENTS
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OUR GRANTS

Supporting  
patient care£2.4M

Spent on projects 
aimed at improving 

patient care 

Doug Sager, who has a neuromuscular disorder called Charcot-Marie-Tooth, is learning how to manage the condition better using ‘Bridges’ self-management tools

Supporting patient care is our main objective, and our  
patient-centred grants aim to make patients that little bit more 
comfortable. This year, our grant giving ranged from alleviating 
chronic pain to extending an acute service for stroke patients.  
In addition, our discretionary funds targeted the specific needs 
of patients at ward level.

Read more about our work in this area:  
uclhcharity.org.uk/does/supporting-patient-care



UCLH CHARITY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–18  9

Helping people with 
neuromuscular diseases 
to manage their condition 
better 

AT A GLANCE

We are providing ‘Bridges’ 
programmes to help those 
with neuromuscular disorders 
to understand and manage 
their condition better.   

The National Hospital for Neurology 
and Neurosurgery (NHNN) is 
the UK’s centre for people with 
neuromuscular diseases (NMDs). 
NMDs are a group of rare and 
complex, sometimes life-long 
conditions which have pathological 
characteristics that include muscle 
weakness and wasting.  

Managing these conditions can be 
complex. Gita Ramdharry, specialist 
neuromuscular physiotherapist at 
the NHNN, maintains that the best 
practice is to empower patients 
to take charge of their chronic 
symptoms: 

“This leads to a better quality of 
life and could reduce reliance on 
the specialist services, which  
can be far away.”

‘Bridges’ self-management 
resources were developed to 
help patients live well with acute 
and long-term conditions. A key 
feature of these resources is the 
experiences, tips and coping 
mechanisms of patients with similar 
conditions. The plan is to provide 
NMD patients with ideas on how to 
manage their own condition, track 
their progress and set personal 
goals; the personal experiences 
featured in the resources will be 
provided by 20 patients from UCLH. 
The programme’s success will be 
measured by how often patients 
access NHS service, their confidence 

in their ability to manage their 
condition, and their quality of life.

“These materials really have the 
potential to improve people’s 
lives through a unique and holistic 
approach, with patients learning 
from other patients.”
Gita Ramdharry 
Specialist Neuromuscular 
Physiotherapist

Extending	a	stroke	service	
to provide patients with 
instant treatment 

AT A GLANCE 

Mechanical thrombectomy, 
a neuroradiology procedure 
for patients who have had 
a stroke, achieves the best 
results if performed within 
six hours of the stroke. We 
are funding a trial to extend 
the provision of this service 
so that more patients may 
benefit from the procedure.

Mechanical thrombectomy is given 
to patients who have had a stroke, 
the single largest cause of adult 
disability and most commonly 
caused when an artery is blocked  
by a clot, cutting off blood flow to 
the brain. 

The procedure retrieves the blood 
clot from the brain’s blood vessel. 
Outcome studies have shown that 
best results are obtained if the 
procedure is performed within the 
first six hours following the onset 
of symptoms. Currently the service 
operates five days a week from 8am 
to 6pm; we will fund a trial to extend 
the service to seven days and from 
8am to midnight, so that more 
patients will benefit from immediate 
treatment.

  Other Grants 
•  Improving pain management for 

inpatients – this will complement 
the multidisciplinary pain service  
for outpatients at UCLH

•  Hetty’s Hospital – an app for 
children aged 4–8 to explain 
commonly experienced hospital 
narratives for services including 
oncology, diabetes, allergy testing 
and dentistry

•  Learning disability play specialist  
– a play specialist who will encourage 
children to learn and reduce anxieties 
about being in hospital

PRIORITIES FOR 2018-19 

 Funding will focus on the 
‘boredom-busting’ campaign 
at UCLH (boredom can be 
damaging for hospital patients 
and can cause decline in their 
mental health and wellbeing) 
and on improving the 
information provided to patients 
at the hospitals.

Patient feedback and experience 
will contribute to the monitoring of 
the procedure, which will also be 
measured by how many patients are 
treated a year, and the outcomes of 
the treatment.

“Receiving the procedure 
immediately could prevent 
permanent brain damage and 
limit long-term disability. The 
hospital will increase the patients 
it sees from 40 patients to 220 
patients a year for the first two 
years. After this period, the 
department hopes to increase 
this service to 24 hours, which 
will put UCLH in a strong position 
to become a designated provider 
for the service.”
Dr Robert Simister
Consultant Stroke Neurologist 
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Training and 
developing staff£2.9M

Spent on projects to 
support training and  

developing staff 

Robert Blaze, nurse careers and transfer scheme lead, talks to a nurse about developing in her career

The core values of UCLH are safety, teamwork, kindness and 
improving. We help UCLH embed these values by providing 
support for staff development each year and recognising 
achievement. This year staff grants focused on engaging large, 
multidisciplinary teams, and our funding helped to establish 
staff groups such as UCLH Women’s Network and the UCLH 
Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) network.

Read more about our work in this area:  
uclhcharity.org.uk/does/training-and-developing-staff

OUR GRANTS
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A support service for nurses 
to develop in their career 

AT A GLANCE

The charity funded a sideways 
transfer scheme and careers 
clinic for nurses at UCLH. So 
far 251 nurses have transferred 
across the organisation. This 
allows talented staff to be 
retained, thereby ensuring 
that the care remains of the 
highest standard.

For the last two and a half years 
nurses at UCLH have been given the 
opportunity and support to transfer 
sideways within the organisation.

The scheme was developed to 
support the retention strategy of the 
Trust; it allows nurses to develop in 
other areas, which can place them in 
a better position for promotion and, 
by providing them with professional 
challenges, reduce the likelihood 
of their exploring external options. 
This will be further developed by 
asking for feedback from nurses and 
by monitoring whether the initiative 
has led to improved retention.

The scheme has further positive 
implications for the Trust by 
reducing the need for expensive 
temporary agency staff and 
increasing the cohesiveness  
of teams.  

The sideways transfer is an example 
of UCLH nurturing staff to be the 
best they can be. This has a positive 
effect on patients and helps UCLH 
maintain an excellent standard of 
care and a world-class service.

Funding to improve and 
support our patient admin 
team  

AT A GLANCE

We supported the training and 
development of administration 
staff in patient-facing roles, to 
improve their problem-solving 
and IT skills.

We have provided a grant to 
develop the ICT and generic skills 
of administrative staff, who are 
often the first people whom patients 
encounter, and who need to be seen 
to embody UCLH’s core values. 

Our grant funds e-learning 
resources and workshops that allow 
staff to participate in role-play 
training based on real-life scenarios; 
it also covers the costs of hiring 
staff to roll out the training. 

The training programme is 
designed to improve efficiency and 
enhance the patient (and the staff) 
experience by equipping staff with 
the skills to deal with challenging 
situations – the success of the 
programme is checked by regular 
requests for feedback from staff 
and patients, as a way of monitoring 
improvement.

  Other Grants
•  Wonder Ward – a programme that 

supports wards to improve and 
reach their targets

•  A new staff intranet – a means 
of improving the way that UCLH 
distributes information internally 
and of presenting information in a 
clear and concise way

•  Theatre staff engagement – an 
engagement programme to invest  
in the growth and development of 
the theatre staff

•  Multidisciplinary cancer team 
(MDT) effectiveness – MDT 

PRIORITIES FOR 2018-19 

 We will focus on funding 
leadership and management 
training for healthcare 
professionals from across all 
representative groups of staff 
at UCLH.

  Ongoing Grants
•  Staff health and wellbeing – we 

care about the welfare of our staff 
and provide continued support – 
physiotherapy, Slimming World 
memberships and a pedometer 
challenge – to ensure they are 
healthy and happy 

•  Excellence awards – every year, 
we fund the Celebrating Excellence 
Awards, which recognises the 
achievements of individuals and 
teams within the hospital

meetings make decisions relating 
to the patient care pathway; our 
funding will improve the decision-
making process by funding 
coaching sessions for those 
involved and training up project 
managers and clinical leadership 
to oversee the process, thereby 
helping the Trust ensure that 
MDT meetings are conducted as 
efficiently as possible

•  Camden Musculoskeletal service 
teambuilding – a new collaborative 
partnership (consisting of UCLH as 
the lead provider, the Royal Free, 
Connect Health, Whittington Health, 
Central and North West London, 
and Camden’s two GP federations) 
providing all physiotherapy, 
rheumatology, pain management, 
podiatry and orthopaedic services 
to Camden residents; we funded 
various activities, including 
yoga and cricket, to encourage 
integration within the team
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Environment 
and equipment

£324K
Spent on projects to 

improve environments 
and pay for specialist 

equipment

Occupational therapist Kathryn Wallace and patient Mohammed Rafiq make full use of the neurological wheelchairs in the gardens outside the NHNN

We award grants to UCLH for the latest technology and specialist 
equipment so that clinicians can make the most accurate prognosis 
and decide the best treatment for patients – this year buying 
equipment that assesses patients with acute vertigo, for example.  
We also provide grants to enhance environments and make UCLH 
more friendly and welcoming for patients.

Read more about our work in this area:  
uclhcharity.org.uk/does/environment-and-equipment

OUR GRANTS
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Neurological wheelchairs 
that are helping patients in 
their day to day lives 

AT A GLANCE

We funded highly specialised 
wheelchair and seating 
equipment for patients 
with complex needs. The 
equipment is helping patients 
with no seating balance 
to complete day-to-day 
tasks autonomously or to 
pursue posture management 
programmes in an upright 
position.

The NHNN cares for patients who 
have conditions that affect the brain, 
spinal cord, peripheral nervous 
system and muscles. Seating 
arrangements can be difficult for 
these patients as they have varying 
levels of ability.

Highly specialised and dedicated 
rehabilitation equipment can 
make a huge difference during the 
rehabilitation process. To this end, 
we provided a grant for adaptable 
neurological wheelchairs and 
seating equipment, which helps 
two groups of patient: those with 
no seating support and those with 
more complex neuro-disorders.

With the wheelchairs, patients 
with no seating support can 
pursue day-to-day tasks such as 
washing and eating autonomously. 
Susan Hourihan, clinical specialist 
occupational therapist, says that  
the chairs empower patients to 
engage socially. 

“I now see these patients making 
use of the garden square outside 
the hospital with their families.” 

In these specialist wheelchairs, 
patients with neuro-disorders 
can pursue posture management 

programmes in an upright position, 
which reduces the risk of pressure 
ulcers, improves respiratory 
function and posture and minimises 
the risk of developing deformity.

“The wheelchairs and equipment 
are providing patients with the best 
opportunity to achieve their goals 
during the rehabilitation process 
and are contributing to significant 
cost savings for the Trust.”
Susan Hourihan
Clinical Specialist Occupational 
Therapist

A relaxing area for patients 
waiting for surgery 

AT A GLANCE

We provided a grant for the 
refurbishment of the surgical 
admissions unit, which will 
make patients feel calm 
and well cared for when 
approaching surgery.   

Waiting for surgery can be a 
daunting experience for patients, 
which is why we are supporting 
the refurbishment of the surgical 
waiting area. Decorative elements 
will include artworks and warm 
lighting to create a new, fresh feel. 
This will complement comforting 
characteristics such as soft 
furniture, and a music stereo 
playing calming music. Games 
and reading material will provide a 
welcome distraction to help reduce 
anxiety for patients – who will also 
be asked to log how they spend 
their time waiting, using an app 
which will measure key metrics 
(thereby giving feedback on the 
success of the initiative).

The refurbishment will be phased to 
minimise disruption to the clinical 
services and should be completed 
by 2019.

PRIORITIES FOR 2018-19 

 Provide cutting-edge diagnostic 
facilities at Queen Square, 
including a 3D imaging and 
navigation system, which will 
improve patient outcomes by the 
use of higher imaging quality.

  Other Grants 
•  Rehabilitation equipment to 

support a functional neurological 
outpatient service – this will provide 
patients who have neurological 
symptoms with flexible and tailored 
support in an outpatient setting 
(previously the outpatient service 
had limited access to therapy 
equipment)

•  A new data platform for 
productivity data and financial 
reporting at UCLH – this will help 
the development of consistent and 
meaningful productivity metrics 
to understand how the Trust is 
progressing and help identify areas 
where services can be delivered 
more efficiently 

•  Telephone charging station – 
visitors to UCLH will be able to 
charge their phones at sites across 
the hospital, and the money raised 
from this service will be used to 
support volunteering services at  
the Trust

“Surgical patients often feel 
stressed before their procedure 
and this is a particular problem 
if they have a long wait. We 
hope that the new facilities will 
help them feel more relaxed and 
comfortable.”
Viki Mitchell
Consultant for Theatres and 
Anaesthesia
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Advancing 
research£3.3M

Spent on projects 
to advance 
research

Dr Chris Wincup’s research about fatigue levels in lupus patients has attracted further funding to take the research to PhD level

We fund a wide range of research projects, helping UCLH to deliver 
biomedical research that is world class and bridges the gap between 
clinical and academic aspects of research. This year we provided 
funding to improve the way the Trust records patient data so that  
we can better communicate and share information with patients,  
GPs and other hospitals. The new system will provide the best 
platform to facilitate future informatics and research projects.

Read more about our work in this area:  
uclhcharity.org.uk/does/advancing-research

OUR GRANTS
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Integrating machine 
learning at UCLH starting 
with the ICU 

AT A GLANCE

As part of our support for 
projects that transform 
healthcare services for 
patients at UCLH, we have 
invested in a major critical-
care informatics project which 
will help clinicians prescribe 
the optimal treatment 
pathway for patients.

The potential benefits of machine 
learning within healthcare are 
enormous. Clinicians can use the 
information that these systems 
collect to predict outcomes and 
prescribe the right treatment 
pathway.  

UCLH is one of five biomedical 
research centres in the UK, which 
comprise 12 intensive care units 
(ICUs). As the lead centre for critical 
care research, UCLH receives data 
from the five centres, which is vast 
in quantity, continuous and far  
too much for the human brain  
to process. 

We have funded INFORM Health 
Informatics, a project that will 
improve and expand the capture of 
historic and real-time usage data 
over these 12 ICUs. All information 
collected will be presented on a 
dashboard, tailored specifically 
to the patient, that will allow the 
clinical team to make a rapid 
response and help with individual 
prognostication. Alongside bedside 
devices in ICU, wireless wearables 
will be used for real-time monitoring 
of patients outside ICU but at risk  
of declining.

Niall MacCallum, critical care 
consultant, is leading on the 
project. In his opinion, the capacity 

of machine learning to evaluate 
decisions will facilitate prospective 
research:

“The project could completely 
change the way we monitor 
our patients and will make 
a significant step to a more 
individualised model of care that 
is centred around the patient.”

Research fellowships for 
junior doctors 

AT A GLANCE

We will joint fund 35 junior 
doctor clinical fellowships 
from 2017 to 2020, which 
will ensure that UCLH keeps 
talented junior doctors longer 
and will stimulate more 
translational and clinical 
research at UCLH. 

Clinical research is an essential 
part of UCLH’s role as a research 
hospital. We are joint funding junior 
doctor clinical fellowships, delivering 
on the pledge of Professor Marcel 
Levi, chief executive of UCLH NHS 
Foundation Trust, to provide more 
translational research at UCLH. The 
fellowships will identify and nurture 
clinical research talent at UCLH and 
retain candidates longer. An annual 
report of each grant will be sent to 
the awarding jury and the Charity 
Trustees board.

The projects will range between 
6 and 12 months and focus on 
active research areas within the 
Biomedical Research Centre. 
In 2019, the programme will be 
evaluated according to the scientific 
success and output of the projects, 
their added value to the Trust and 
the satisfaction of the junior doctors 
involved.  

“The posts are an excellent 

PRIORITIES FOR 2018-19 

 Support the integration of 
machine learning in ICU 
and build a strong case for 
developing in other areas.

  Other Grants 
•  Centre for Cancer Outcomes – a 

project to collect clinical data and 
use information to improve and 
evaluate efficiency and outcomes 
across the hospital

example of how research can be 
embedded in patient care and 
the day-to-day activities of the 
Trust. This will fulfil our objective 
to drive innovation and translate 
advances into improved patient 
outcomes.”
Robert Duke
Associate Director of Medical and 
Dental Education

Research profile: 
Dr Chris Wincup

Area of Interest: 
Investigating whether a single-dose 
iron infusion can help improve 
fatigue levels in lupus patients with 
functional iron deficiency

“The fellowship has enabled me 
to contribute towards a clinical 
trial that looks to alleviate fatigue, 
a symptom that 80–90% of 
lupus patients consider is the 
worst symptom.
It has been great engaging with 
patients to see what matters to 
them and I hope that the results 
will have significant patient 
benefit.”
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SUMMARY OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

 INCOME: GROUP BASIS 2018 2017
  £’000 £’000

01 Donations and legacies 8,959 9,470
02 Turnover of subsidiary companies 4,536 4,644
03 Investment income 4,652 4,310
04 Charitable activities, other  
 fundraising activities and 
 other income 3,070 1,444

  21,217 19,868

EXPENDITURE: GROUP BASIS  2018 2017
    £’000 £’000

05 Cost of generating donations 1,564 822
  and legacies
06 Operating costs of subsidiary 4,251 4,088
  companies
07 Investment and property 1,190 1,190
  management costs
08 Medical equipment and 324 1,292
  infrastructure
09 Provision of staff and 4,938 3,505
  professional services
10  Patient welfare and amenities 2,409 1,796
11  Medical research 3,270 2,047
12  Staff education and development 2,961 3,348
  Transfer to other organisations 0 80

    20,907 18,168

Expenditure was £20.9m compared to £18.2m for 
the same period last year. The cost of generating 
donations and legacies was higher largely due to 
two grants made to UCLH NHS Foundation Trust 
to establish a fundraising team. Expenditure on 
charitable activities was also higher, particularly 
the provision of staff and professional services and 
medical research. Grant expenditure and expenditure 
from discretionary funds are by their nature 
unpredictable and not necessarily consistent from  
one financial year to another. 

Income was £21.2m for the year, £1.3m higher than last 
year mainly due to a one-off amount of £1.6m in other 
income relating to compensation for rights of light for 
the charity’s Huntley Street properties. 

Donations and legacies are the charity’s largest 
funding source, with the majority of this being ring-
fenced for consultants, departments and wards. The 
charity’s arrangement of working closely with clinical 
staff means that this key funding stream is targeted 
very directly at the priorities identified by clinicians, 
who are best placed to see how their funds can be 
used to benefit patients.
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The trustees have pleasure in presenting their annual 
report for the purposes of the Charities Act 2011, together 
with the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2018 for 
University College London Hospitals Charity (UCLH 
Charity). The report is also a director’s report as required 
by S.415 of the Companies Act 2006. The trustees have 
used the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
UK and the Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and followed 
the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing 
their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland in 
preparing the annual report and accounts of the charity.

PUBLIC BENEFIT
It is the intention of the trustees that the charitable funds 
should be used to expand on and develop the services 
provided by University College London Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, by funding innovative and original 
projects which would not otherwise be possible using 
only central NHS funds. In formulating and applying 
these objects and planning the work of the charity, the 
trustees have due regard for Charity Commission’s 
general guidance on public benefit. 

STRATEGY, PLANNING AND MEASUREMENT
In order to work towards its objectives, the charity 
undertakes regular strategic reviews, based on 
discussions with UCLH NHS Foundation Trust senior 
staff. Each review helps us to understand the direction 
of the Foundation Trust, the issues it faces, and how the 
charity can best support it as it moves forward. 

Follow-up reports are received from grant recipients 
to gather evidence on how effective our funding has 
been. Most projects take some time to show measurable 
results and the benefits accrue gradually, and so the 
results of grants made in one accounting period may  
not emerge until future years. 

BALANCE SHEET
The group and the charity’s financial positions are 
summarised on pages 28 and 29 respectively.

The Cotton Rooms patient accommodation, which 
occupies the top two floors of 170 Tottenham Court 
Road, a property owned by the charity, is classified as a 
tangible fixed asset, since it is used to provide services 
to the charity’s beneficiaries. It was valued at £9.1m at 
31 March 2018 (2017: £7.7m). The Middlesex Annexe was 
bought in March 2017 and the purchase cost and other 
associated fees have also been classified as a tangible 
fixed asset, since the property is still under construction. 
It had a value of £15.7m at 31 March 2018 (2017: £13.1m), 
meaning the charity had tangible fixed assets of £24.8m. 

Investment properties accounted for £67.9m of the group’s 
assets (2017: £82.0m), with a further £40.3m represented 
by listed investments (2017: £41.3m). Further details of 

investment performance are below. Debtors stood at £9.7m 
(2017: £7.5m), and the group held £35.7m of cash at bank at 
31 March 2018. This compares to cash of £21.6m at 31 March 
2017 and the increase was largely due to the sale of eight of 
the charity’s properties in Huntley Street during the year. 

The charity’s main liability was its grant creditors, which 
stood at £17.8m (2017: £14.7m). Total current liabilities 
were £21.7m at 31 March 2018 (2017: £18.1m).

Overall, the consolidated balance sheet stood at £158.9m 
at 31 March 2018 (2017: £156.6m).

INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
As at 31 March 2018, the trustees held investment assets 
with a market value of £108.2m (2017: £123.4m), including 
£38.7m held with investment managers, £1.0m held in 
common investment funds, and £67.9m in investment 
properties. As a result of the sale of Inventive Medical Ltd 
in 2016–17, the charity holds shares in MedaPhor Group plc 
which were valued at £0.6m at the year end. 

During the year, the charity made net investment gains of 
£0.5m (2017: £10.4m), which related almost entirely to the 
investment property portfolio. Further details are provided 
in note 13 to the accounts, including the breakdown 
between listed investments and investment properties.

The majority of listed investments are held with three 
managers: Sarasin & Partners LLP, BNY Mellon Fund 
Managers Ltd and Cazenove Capital Management. The 
charity also owns a number of investment properties 
which provide residential and office accommodation, and 
in addition holds units in the COIF Charities Investment 
Fund, managed by CCLA Investment Management Ltd. 

Investment in stocks and shares are made in accordance with 
a Charity Commission Scheme dated 27 March 2017. The 
charity’s governing documents allow the trustees to invest 
in a wide range of shares and investments provided they 
are not speculative or hazardous. The trustees require their 
investment managers to invest in a diversified portfolio of 
investments to provide growth of both capital and income 
over the long term, whilst avoiding exposing the charity’s 
assets to unacceptable high levels of risk. Investment is not 
made directly or indirectly in companies which derive 10% 
or more of their revenue from the sale of tobacco or tobacco 
products. The trustees have delegated oversight of listed 
investment matters to the investment sub-committee.

Investment performance is continuously monitored and 
measured in-house, against trustees’ and investment 
management benchmarks on a monthly basis. Investment 
advisers meet with the officers regularly and with the 
trustees twice a year to discuss strategies and performance. 
The trustees are content with the performance of the listed 
investments and remain satisfied that their investment 
objectives are being met. However, during the year the 
charity carried out an investment review and made a 
strategic switch for part of their investments from a total 
return approach to an equity income strategy.
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The trustees have delegated oversight of properties 
to the property sub-committee. A full revaluation of 
the charity’s investment properties was carried out as 
at 31 March 2018, in line with the requirements of the 
Charities’ Statement of Recommended Practice. 

RESERVES 
At 31 March 2018, the total funds of the group amounted 
to £158.9m. A full breakdown is shown in note 18.

Endowment funds totalled £6.7m (2017: £6.7m) and 
restricted funds amounted to £2.5m (2017: £2.5m).  
A further £52.2m (2017: £49.9m) was held in discretionary 
funds which have been designated for the support 
of consultants, departments and wards. For these 
funds, decisions over spending are delegated to senior 
clinical staff, so the funds are not available for general 
application by the charity. 

Discretionary funds included a figure of £26.7m (2017: 
£26.7m) which has been set aside for the Foundation 
Trust with a view to it being used in the near future for 
the hospital’s new cancer and surgery centre. This is in 
construction and will incorporate the new proton beam 
therapy unit and additional patient beds for those receiving 
long-term cancer care. A further £13.0m (2017: £12.8m) is 
held in other designated funds, under the control of the 
trustees but ring-fenced for specific projects.

The trustees have ongoing commitments relating to the 
welfare of both patients and staff. Apart from donations 
and legacies, which are by their nature unpredictable, 
the income received by the charity’s undesignated funds 
is derived from investments and property rental. The 
trustees therefore consider that there is a need to maintain 
a level of free reserves to generate sufficient income to 
meet these commitments, allowing for fluctuations in the 
returns that these investments generate. 

The charity’s expenditure varies from year to year and is 
often significant on any one project, be it the purchase 
of expensive medical equipment or a major capital 
scheme. A substantial level of free reserves is required 
both to meet known likely expenditure up to two or three 
years’ forward and unforeseen expenditure. 

The level of undesignated free reserves excludes 
investment properties which are of strategic importance 
to the charity and was £19.4m at 31 March 2018. 

The trustees review the level of the group’s reserves 
on a quarterly basis to ensure that they can meet likely 
commitments, and review the reserves policy on an 
annual basis. To meet the group’s aims and to reduce 
reliance on the reserves, the trustees actively seek 
opportunities for income generation. The trustees 
intend to review the charity’s reserves policy once the 
major capital project has been completed. The trustees 
consider that the level of free reserves at 31 March 2018 
is adequate to meet the charity’s needs.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The trustees recognise that they have a responsibility to 
minimise the level of risk to which their activities could 
be exposed. They actively review the major risks which 
the group and charity face on a regular basis and believe 
that the maintenance of reserves, combined with the 
annual review of the controls over key financial systems 
will provide sufficient resources for committed grants in 
the event of adverse conditions.

UCLH Charity assesses risks for both likelihood 
of occurrence and potential financial impact, with 
procedures established to mitigate these as far as 
possible. Risks which score highly on both scales 
are monitored closely. At present, the key risks the 
charity has identified fall into two broad categories; 
investments and investment property. The charity 
considers that appropriate mitigating procedures are 
in place in both these areas, supported by existence of 
specialist sub-committees on each area reporting to the 
trustees. In particular, lack of appropriate investment 
policies or poor investment performance, which could 
lead to financial loss, is mitigated by the involvement of 
professional investment management firms who meet 
regularly with the trustees and officers. The risk of a 
property market collapse, which could have a significant 
impact on the value of the charity’s investment 
properties, is mitigated by the fact that the properties 
are held by the charity as long-term investments and 
long-term rental agreements are held with tenants. 
The risks associated with the significant capital project 
currently being undertaken are mitigated by the use 
of professional advisors and regular monitoring 
procedures are in place.

FUNDRAISING
UCLH Charity aims to achieve best practice in the 
way in which it communicates with donors and other 
supporters and is registered with the Fundraising 
Regulator. It takes care with both the tone of its 
communications and the accuracy of its data to 
minimise the pressures on supporters. It applies 
best practice to protect supporters’ data and never 
sells data, never swaps data and ensures that 
communication preferences can be changed at any 
time. The charity undertakes to react to and investigate 
any complaints regarding its fundraising activities and 
to learn from them and improve its service. During 
the year, the charity received no complaints about 
its fundraising activities. We do not use third party 
fundraisers. The majority of fundraising activities are 
carried out by volunteers on behalf of discretionary 
funds but during the year the trustees agreed to 
support the fundraising strategy of UCLH NHS 
Foundation Trust. Their priority is to raise funds for 
the new cancer and surgery centre and the new Royal 
National ENT and Eastman Dental Hospitals.
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 PLANS FOR FUTURE PERIODS
 Over the next five years, the charity plans:

•  To make a grant of £30m to UCLH for its new cancer and 
surgery centre. This grant will be the largest ever made 
by the charity;

•  To provide grants to UCLH for projects to improve 
patient care and the patient experience, ensuring that 
these are over and above NHS provision;

•  To work with our fundholders who run ward and 
discretionary funds, supporting them in the valuable 
work they do on our behalf and assisting with their 
fundraising initiatives;

•  To generate new income streams, particularly through 
our project to develop the Middlesex Annexe;

•  To continue to support UCLH staff by funding 
educational courses, rewarding exceptional service and 
providing interest-free season ticket loans; and

•  To improve the profile of the charity within the hospitals 
and the community they serve, both to increase the level 
of support from the public and to celebrate the benefits 
which the charity provides

STRATEGIC REPORT AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

UCLH CHARITY STRUCTURE
Following a restructuring process supported by the 
Department of Health and the Charity Commission, 
University College London Hospitals Charity 
reconstituted as a charitable company limited by 
guarantee registered with the Charity Commission 
(no.1165398) and Companies House (09980449). The 
charity is an incorporated organisation and operates 
under a Charity Commission Scheme dated 27 
March 2017. Its objects are covered in its Articles of 
Association, dated 1 February 2016 and for the public 
benefit, to further any charitable purposes relating to 
any purposes of University College London Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust or that of the health service.

TRUSTEES
For continuation purposes, a number of trustees who 
were previously trustees of the former NHS charity 
became trustees of the new charity, carrying over 
their terms of office. New trustees are appointed by 
the Trustee Board after an appointment process. They 
are selected to provide the charity with a relevant 
mix of professional skills in health, law, investment 
management, properties, and charitable grant-making. 
Altogether the charity has seven trustees composed 
of four independent trustees, one Foundation Trust 
trustee and two clinical trustees nominated by the 
Foundation Trust.

Newly appointed trustees are provided with packs 
which provide details on the duties and roles of a charity 
trustee, and information about how the charity operates. 
In addition, new trustees meet the chairman and officers 
of the charity to discuss the organisation’s objectives 
and direction. 

Trustees are kept up to date regularly with changes 
relating to charity legislation. Conferences organised 
by legal, financial and investment professionals are 
available for trustees to attend. The charity is also a 
member of the Association of NHS Charities, which 
offers regular seminars for the trustees.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

ORGANISATION AND DECISION-MAKING 
PROCESS
The trustees are responsible for setting the strategic 
direction of the organisation and for establishing 
policy. They delegate the administration of the charity 
to the chief executive who employs accounting and 
administrative staff to support him.

The charity invites applications for funding of projects 
through University College London Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. Grant bids must be approved by 
UCLH Senior Director Team before consideration by the 
trustees, to ensure that grants made are in line with the 
strategic direction of the Foundation Trust.

Grant bids which have been passed by the Foundation 
Trust Senior Director Team are discussed at quarterly 
trustees’ meetings which the Foundation Trust’s 
chairman and chief executive are invited to attend in 
an advisory capacity. Decisions to approve all or part 
of a particular grant are made by the trustees following 
these discussions.

There are three sub-committees, investment, 
property and remuneration. The remuneration sub-
committee recommends a level of remuneration for key 
management personnel comprising the chief executive 
and the executive team. This sub-committee consists 
of at least three trustees with appropriate skills and 
experience. It meets at least once a year and reports 
to the full board of trustees. Further details of key 
management personnel and their remuneration are 
given in note 10. 

Chief Executive

Investment 
Committee

Property 
Committee

Renumeration 
Committee

TRUSTEES

Finance DirectorDevelopment 
Director

Secretary
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DISCRETIONARY FUNDS
A significant proportion of the charity’s activities are 
delivered by the staff of the Foundation Trust, who are a 
key link to patients and supporters. For our discretionary 
funds, which are designated (see note 18), staff submit 
proposals for the most effective use of funds, bearing 
in mind their knowledge of local needs in their own 
wards and departments. These requests are reviewed 
and authorised by officers of the charity to ensure that 
expenditure is in accordance with the charity’s objects. 

Subsidiary companies owned by UCLH Charity and 
consolidated in these accounts 
The charity owns the entire share capital of the entities 
listed below, whose results are consolidated in these 
accounts:

QS Enterprises Ltd (company number 01850377) 
This company provides clinical imaging services to 
patients of the NHS and private hospitals. It has a 
separate board of directors who report to the charity 
trustees on a regular basis. The company was able to 
make a Gift Aid contribution to the charity of £0.24m in 
2017–18. Further details of its financial results are given 
in note 3.

Middlesex UCLHC Ltd (company number 10821655)  
This company was formed on 15 June 2017 to carry out 
property activities. It remained dormant in the period to 
31 March 2018. Its financial activities commenced on  
1 April 2018. 

Middlesex Annexe LLP (registered number OC417941)  
This limited liability partnership was formed on 28 June 
2017 to carry out property activities, in particular the 
Middlesex Annexe in Fitzrovia. UCLH Charity and the 
Middlesex UCLHC Ltd are members of the partnership. 
Its financial activities also commenced on 1 April 2018. 

ASSOCIATED ORGANISATIONS
The charity exists to support the work of UCLH NHS 
Foundation Trust, with which it has a close working 
relationship. The Foundation Trust chairman and 
chief executive are invited to attend regular trustees’ 
meetings, but the trustees of UCLH Charity are totally 
independent of the Foundation Trust. It also works with 
the Essex Wynter Charity (registered charity number 
1084786), an independent charity which provides 
grants, scholarships or housing accommodation for the 
benefit of current and past employees of The Middlesex 
Hospital and UCLH who are in need of financial 
assistance. UCLH Charity has the responsibility of 
appointing the Essex Wynter Charity trustees and 
provides administrative support. Close links are 
maintained between the two bodies as staff of UCLH 
NHS Foundation Trust benefit from the activities of 
both entities.

UCLH CHARITY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–18 21

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT
TRUSTEES’ REPORT INCORPORATING STRATEGIC REPORT



UCLH CHARITY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–1822

STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES’ RESPONSIBILITIES

  The trustees (who are also directors of University 
College London Hospitals Charity for the purposes 
of company law) are responsible for preparing the 
trustees’ report and financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

  Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company 
and the group and of the income and expenditure of the 
group for that period. 

  In preparing these financial statements, the trustees  
are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

•  observe the methods and principles in Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts 
in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102);

•  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent;

•  state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
charitable company will continue in operation.

  The trustees are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
charitable company and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the charitable company and the group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention  
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

 Each of the trustees confirms that:

•  so far as the trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the charitable company’s auditor is 
unaware; and

•  the trustee has taken all the steps that he/she ought to 
have taken as a trustee in order to make himself/herself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the charitable company’s auditor is aware of that 
information.
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This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in 
accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies 
Act 2006.

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the charitable company’s website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Signed on behalf of the trustees:

James Thorne 
Chairman

28 September 2018 



REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of University 
College London Hospitals Charity (the ‘charitable parent 
company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the 
year ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the group 
and charitable parent company statements of financial 
activities, the group and charitable parent company 
balance sheets and consolidated statement of cash 
flows, the principal accounting policies and notes 
to the financial statements. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 
‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

 In our opinion, the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and 
of the charitable parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 
2018 and of the group’s income and expenditure for the 
year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the group 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

•  the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 
is not appropriate; or

•  the trustees have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the group’s or the 
charitable parent company’s ability to continue to adopt 
the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at 

least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Other information 
The trustees are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify 
such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether 
there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED 
BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit:

•  the information given in the trustees’ report including 
the strategic report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and

•  the trustees’ report including the strategic report has 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of 
the group and the charitable parent company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have 
not identified material misstatements in the trustees’ 
report including the strategic report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
charitable parent company, or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been received from branches not visited 
by us; or

•  the charitable parent company financial statements 
are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
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returns; or

•  certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

•  we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees 
As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities 
statement, the trustees are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the trustees determine is necessary  
to enable the preparation of financial statements that  
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are 
responsible for assessing the group’s and the charitable 
parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the group  
or the charitable parent company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of  
these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the  
audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This  
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the charitable company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable 
company’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the charitable company and the charitable company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed.

Shachi Blakemore  
Senior Statutory Auditor 
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, Statutory Auditor 
130 Wood Street, London EC2V 6DL

 28 September 2018

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS (continued)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
       2018 2017
    Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Total 
    Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
   Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Income and endowments from:     
Donations and legacies 2 8,959  –  –  8,959  9,470 
Charitable activities  1,315  –  –  1,315  1,339 
Other trading activities     
 Turnover of QS Enterprises Ltd 3 4,536  –  –  4,536  3,841 
 Turnover of Inventive Medical Ltd (discontinued) 4 –  –  –  –  803 
 Other fundraising activities  93  –  –  93  96 
Investments 5 4,575  77  –  4,652  4,310 
Other  1,662  –  –  1,662  9 
Total income  21,140  77  –  21,217  19,868

Expenditure on:    
Raising funds
 Costs of generating donations and legacies   1,555  9  –  1,564  822 
 Fundraising trading expenditure      
  Operating costs of QS Enterprises Ltd  4,251  –  –  4,251  3,025 
  Operating costs of Inventive Medical Ltd  
  (discontinued)  –  –  –  –  1,063 
 Investment management costs     
  Costs of managing quoted investments  192  9  33  234  238 
  Costs of managing, maintaining and  
  repairing investment properties  869  –  –  869  795 
  Bank interest and charges on loan relating  
  to investment properties  87  –  –  87  157 
Charitable activities 6 
 Medical equipment and infrastructure costs  278  46  –  324  1,292 
 Provision of staff and professional services  4,936  2  –  4,938  3,505 
 Patient welfare and amenities  2,368  41  –  2,409  1,796 
 Medical research  3,268  2  –  3,270  2,047 
 Staff education and development  2,948  13  –  2,961  3,348 
Other  –  –  –  –  80 
Total expenditure  20,752  122  33  20,907  18,168 

Net income/(expenditure) for the year before investment gains 388 (45) (33) 310 1,700
Net gains on investments  391  25  69  485  10,401 
Net income/(expenditure)  779  (20) 36  795  12,101

Other recognised gains/(losses)      
Gains/(losses) on revaluation of tangible fixed assets 12 1,564  –  –  1,564  (334)

Net movement in funds  2,343  (20) 36  2,359  11,767

Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward 18 147,366  2,511  6,703  156,580  144,813 
Total funds carried forward  149,709  2,491  6,739  158,939  156,580

On 1 April 2017 the charity was reconstructed as an independent charity and ceased to be an NHS charity. The entire 
undertaking of the unincorporated trust then known as University College London Hospitals Charity (the ‘Old Charity’) 
was transferred to a new charitable company with the same name called University College London Hospitals Charity, 
a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales (the ‘New Charity’). The legal and beneficial 
titles to the unrestricted assets of the Old Charity were transferred to the New Charity, company number 09980449.

The restricted and endowment funds of the Old Charity were transferred to the New Charity to be held on the same 
terms. Merger accounting has been applied in these financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 27.12 – 
27.13 Charities SORP FRS 102 in recognition that the new legal entity is continuing with the charitable purposes 
and beneficiaries of the Old Charity. Consequently, the comparative figures presented above and in these financial 
statements relate to the Old Charity for the year ended 31 March 2017.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES (continued)

Disposal of Inventive Medical Ltd – Discontinued operation 
On 2 August 2016, Inventive Medical Limited, a subsidiary of the charity, was disposed of. Consequently, transactions 
up to this date were included in income and expenditure, with the gain on disposal shown as part of the net 
investment gains for the period. The amounts included in the statement of financial activities for the year ended  
31 March 2017 are presented below.
       2018 2017
        Total  Total 
        Funds  Funds 
      Note  £’000  £’000 

Turnover of Inventive Medical Ltd  - 803
Operating costs of Inventive Medical Ltd  - (1,063
Loss for the period  - (260)

Gain on disposal of Inventive Medical Ltd 
Net proceeds received  - 2,440
Less loan from Charity to Inventive Medical Ltd  - (2,630)
Realised loss on disposal of Inventive Medical Ltd  - (190)
Add accumulated losses at 31 July 2016 4 - 2,109
Total gain on disposal  - 1,919

Apart from the balances above, all other balances relate to continuing operations.
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CHARITY ONLY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 
       2018 2017
    Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Total 
    Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
   Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Income and endowments from:     
Donations and legacies 2 9,196  –  –  9,196  10,307 
Charitable activities  1,315  –  –  1,315  1,339 
Other trading activities  93  –  –  93  96 
Investments 5 4,575  77  –  4,652  4,310 
Other  1,702  –  –  1,702  9 
Total income  16,881  77  –  16,958  16,061 

Expenditure on:     
Raising funds      
 Costs of generating donations and legacies   1,555  9  –  1,564  822 
 Investment management costs      
  Costs of managing quoted investments  192  9  33  234  238 
  Costs of managing, maintaining and       
  repairing investment properties  869  –  –  869  795 
  Bank interest and charges on loan relating     
  to investment properties  87  –  –  87  157 
Charitable activities 6    
 Medical equipment and infrastructure costs  278  46  –  324  1,292 
 Provision of staff and professional services  4,936  2  –  4,938 3,505 
 Patient welfare and amenities  2,368  41  –  2,409  1,796 
 Medical research  3,268  2  –  3,270  2,047 
 Staff education and development  2,948  13  –  2,961  3,348 
Other  –  –  –  –  80 
Total expenditure  16,501  122  33  16,656  14,080 

Net income/(expenditure) for the year before investment gains 380 (45) (33) 302 1,981 
Net gains/(losses) on investments  391  25  69  485  8,292 
Net income/(expenditure)  771  (20) 36  787  10,273 

Other recognised (losses)/gains      
Gains/(losses) on revaluation of tangible fixed assets 12 1,564  –  –  1,564  (334)

Net movement in funds  2,335  (20) 36  2,351  9,939 

Reconciliation of funds     
Total funds brought forward 18 147,312  2,511  6,703  156,526  146,587 
Total funds carried forward 18 149,647  2,491  6,739  158,877  156,526

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2018
       2018 2017
    Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Total 
    Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
   Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Fixed assets       
Tangible assets 12 28,609  –  –  28,609  22,154 
Listed investments and investment properties 13 100,525  969  6,739  108,233  123,373 
Programme-related loans 14 70  –  –  70  83 
Total fixed assets  129,204  969  6,739  136,912  145,610 

Current assets       
Stocks   –  –  –  –  4 
Debtors 15 9,709  –  –  9,709  7,488 
Cash at hand and in bank  34,221  1,522  –  35,743  21,654 
Total current assets  43,930  1,522  –  45,452  29,146 

Current liabilities       
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 21,735  –  –  21,735  18,082 
Net current assets  22,195  1,522  –  23,717  11,064 

Total assets less current liabilities  151,399  2,491  6,739  160,629  156,674 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year  17a 1,615  –  –  1,615  19 
Provisions for liabilities and charges 17b 75  –  –  75  75 
Total net assets  149,709  2,491  6,739  158,939  156,580 

The funds of the charity       
Capital funds       
 Endowment funds 18 –  –  6,739  6,739  6,703 

Income funds       
 Restricted funds 18 –  2,491  –  2,491  2,511

 Unrestricted funds       
  General funds 18 82,948  –  –  82,948  84,737  
  Designated discretionary funds 18 52,183  –  –  52,183  49,862  
  Other designated funds 18 13,014  –  –  13,014  12,767  
  Revaluation reserve 18 1,564  –  –  1,564  – 
Total funds  149,709  2,491  6,739  158,939  156,580

The notes on pages 31 to 46 form part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the trustees:

 

James Thorne 
Chairman

28 September 2018 

Company Registration Number 09980449  
(England and Wales)
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CHARITY ONLY BALANCE SHEET 

       2018 2017
    Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Total 
    Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
   Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Fixed assets       
Tangible assets 12 24,758  –  –  24,758 20,838 
 Listed investments and investment properties 13 100,525  969  6,739  108,233  123,373 
 Programme-related loans 14 70  –  –  70  83 
Total fixed assets  125,353  969  6,739  133,061  144,294 

Current assets       
Stocks   –  –  –  –  4 
Debtors 15 11,616  –  –  11,616  8,606 
Cash at hand and in bank  33,565  1,522  –  35,087  21,085 
Total current assets  45,181  1,522  –  46,703  29,695 

Current liabilities       
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 20,887  –  –  20,887  17,463 

Net current assets  24,294  1,522  –  25,816  12,232 
Total net assets  149,647  2,491  6,739  158,877  156,526 

The funds of the charity       
Capital funds       
 Endowment funds 18 –  – 6,739  6,739  6,703 

Income funds       
 Restricted funds 18 –  2,491  –  2,491 2,511 
 Unrestricted funds       
  General funds 18 82,886  –  –  82,886  84,678 
  Designated discretionary funds 18 52,183 –  –  52,183  49,862 
  Other designated funds 18 13,014  –  –  13,014  12,772 
  Revaluation reserve 18 1,564  –  –  1,564  – 
Total funds  149,647  2,491  6,739  158,877  156,526 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
       2018 2017
      Note £’000  £’000 

Cash flows from operating activities:       
Net cash used in operating activities    20 (2,469) (4,557)

Cash flows from investing activities:      
Dividends, interest and rents from investments     4,170  4,145 
Proceeds from the sale of investments     24,349  3,118 
Net cash from disposal of subsidiary     –  (589)
Purchase of tangible fixed assets     (3,033) (14,214)
Purchase of investments     (8,724) (3,003)
Repayments of programme-related loans    14  13 
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities     16,775  (10,530)

Cash flows from financing activities       
Repayments of borrowing     –  (18,000)

Capital element of finance lease repayments     (217) –
Net cash used in financing activities     (217) (18,000)

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period    14,089  (33,087)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period    21,654  54,741 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period    35,743  21,654 
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation 
The accounts have been prepared under the historic cost convention, with the exception of 
investments and land and buildings within tangible fixed assets which are included at fair value. 

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice: 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014 and 
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) 
and the Charities Act 2011 and UK Generally Accepted Practice as it applies from 1 January 2015. 

The accounts are presented in sterling and rounded to the nearest thousand pounds.

The charity is a public benefit entity as defined by FRS 102.

The trustees consider that there are no material uncertainties about UCLH Charity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Preparation of the accounts requires the trustees to make significant 
judgements and estimates. The items in the accounts where these judgements and estimates 
have been made include:

• estimating investment management fees charged on managed funds; 

• estimating the useful economic life of tangible fixed assets and intangible assets;

• provisions against slow moving stocks; and

• the basis for allocation of support costs.

The results of the wholly-owned subsidiary company, QS Enterprises Ltd, have been consolidated in 
these accounts on a line-by-line basis. Further details are given in note 3.

A new wholly-owned subsidiary company, Middlesex UCLHC Ltd, was set up during the year but 
remained dormant until 1 April 2018. 

A new limited liability partnership, Middlesex Annexe LLP, was set up during the year but also 
remained dormant until 1 April 2018. 

On 1 April 2017 the charity was reconstructed as an independent charity and ceased to be an  
NHS charity.

The entire undertaking of the unincorporated trust then known as University College London 
Hospitals Charity (the ‘Old Charity’) was transferred to a new charitable company called University 
College London Hospitals Charity, a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and 
Wales (the ‘New Charity’) company number 09980449.

The legal and beneficial titles to the unrestricted assets of the Old Charity were transferred to 
the New Charity. The restricted and endowment funds of the Old Charity were transferred to the 
New Charity to be held on the same terms. Merger accounting has been applied in these financial 
statements in accordance with paragraphs 27.12 —27.13 Charities SORP FRS 102 in recognition that 
the new legal entity is continuing with the charitable purposes and beneficiaries of the Old Charity. 
Consequently, the comparative figures presented in these financial statements relate to the Old 
Charity for the year ended 31 March 2017.

Funds structure 
Where there is a legal restriction on the purpose to which a fund may be put, the fund is classified 
either as a restricted fund or an endowment fund. Restricted funds are those where the donor has 
provided for the donation to be spent in furtherance of a specified charitable purpose. Endowment 
funds arise when the donor has expressly provided that the gift is to be invested and only the 
income of the fund may be spent. 

Those funds which are neither endowment nor restricted income funds, are unrestricted income 
funds which are sub analysed between designated (earmarked) funds where the trustees have set 
aside amounts to be used for specific purposes or which reflect the non-binding wishes of donors and 
unrestricted funds which are at the trustees’ discretion, including the general funds which represent  
the charity’s reserves. The major funds held in each of these categories are disclosed in note 18.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income 
All income is recognised once the charity has entitlement to the resources, it is probable (more likely 
than not) that the resources will be received and the monetary value of income can be measured with 
sufficient reliability. Where there are terms or conditions attached to income, particularly grants, then 
these terms or conditions must be met before the income is recognised as the entitlement condition will 
not be satisfied until that point. Where terms or conditions have not been met or uncertainty exists as to 
whether they can be met then the relevant income is not recognised in the year but deferred and shown 
on the balance sheet as deferred income. 

Legacies are accounted for as income either upon receipt or where the receipt of the legacy is probable. 
Receipt is probable when: 

• Confirmation has been received from the representatives of the estate(s) that probate has been granted 

• The executors have established that there are sufficient assets in the estate to pay the legacy and 

• All conditions attached to the legacy have been fulfilled or are within the charity’s control. 

The income received from the invested endowment funds is wholly restricted.

Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT  
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that 
aggregate all costs related to each category of expense shown in the statement of financial activities. 
Expenditure is recognised when the following criteria are met: 

• There is a present legal or constructive obligation resulting from a past event 

•  It is more likely than not that a transfer of benefits (usually a cash payment) will be required  
in settlement 

• The amount of the obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. 

Irrecoverable VAT is charged against the category of expenditure for which it was incurred.

Grants payable are payments made to linked, related party or third party NHS bodies, in furtherance of 
the charity’s objectives. Grant payments are recognised as expenditure when the conditions for their 
payment have been met or where there is a constructive obligation to make a payment. A constructive 
obligation arises when: 

•  The charity has communicated its intention to award a grant to a recipient who then has a reasonable 
expectation that they will receive a grant;

•  The charity has made a public announcement about a commitment which is specific enough for the 
recipient to have a reasonable expectation that they will receive a grant; and

•  There is an established pattern of practice which indicates to the recipient that the charity will honour 
its commitment. 

The trustees have control over the amount and timing of grant payments and consequently where 
approval has been given by the trustees and any of the above criteria have been met then a liability is 
recognised. Grants are not usually awarded with conditions attached. However, when they are, then 
those conditions have to be met before the liability is recognised.

Allocation of support costs 
Support costs are those costs which do not relate directly to a single activity. These include staff costs, 
costs of administration, legal fees and audit fees. Support costs have been apportioned between costs 
of raising funds and charitable activities on an appropriate basis. The analysis of support costs and the 
bases of apportionment applied are shown in note 7.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Costs of raising funds 
The costs of raising funds are those costs attributable to generating income for the charity, other than 
those costs incurred in undertaking charitable activities or the costs incurred in undertaking trading 
activities in furtherance of the charity’s objects. The costs of raising funds represent fundraising costs 
together with the operating costs of the charity’s subsidiary companies, investment management fees 
and property management costs. 

Charitable activities  
Costs of charitable activities comprise all costs incurred in the pursuit of the charitable objects of the 
charity. These costs, where not wholly attributable, are apportioned between the categories of charitable 
expenditure in addition to the direct costs. The total costs of each category of charitable expenditure 
include an apportionment of support costs as shown in note 6.

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 
Neither the charity nor its subsidiary companies have a strict monetary limit below which fixed assets 
are not capitalised. Instead, each asset or group of assets is considered separately and capitalised if 
appropriate, unless the value is clearly negligible.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost less estimated 
residual value of each asset evenly over its expected useful life, as follows:

Land and buildings 50 years 
Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease 
Furniture, medical and office equipment 3 to 5 years 
Computer equipment 2 to 3 years

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Land and buildings are subject to revaluation. Formal valuations for land and buildings are usually carried 
out by a professional valuer at five yearly intervals and a formal valuation was carried out by Dron & 
Wright at 31 March 2018. Valuation gains and losses are credited (or debited) to other gains or losses 
within the statement of financial activities with the balance sheet reflecting the revalued amounts. Any 
revaluation losses in excess of previously recognised revaluation gains are shown within the appropriate 
heading of expenditure.

Investments 
Listed investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are included in the accounts at their 
market value as at the balance sheet date. Investment portfolios are held with Sarasin & Partners LLP, 
BNY Mellon Fund Managers Ltd, Cazenove Capital Management and CCLA. For Sarasin & Partners LLP 
and Cazenove Capital Management, quoted stocks and shares are included in the balance sheet at bid 
price at close of business on the valuation date. For BNY Mellon, quoted stocks and shares are included in 
the balance sheet at market price at close of business on the valuation date. Realised and unrealised gains 
(or losses) are credited (or debited) to the statement of financial activities in the year in which they arise. 

The charity does not acquire put options, derivatives or other complex financial instruments.

Formal valuations for investment properties are usually carried out by a professional valuer at five 
yearly intervals and a formal valuation was carried out by Dron & Wright at 31 March 2018. Between 
formal valuations, desktop valuations are provided by a professional valuer, which are used to value the 
investment properties in the accounts at the year end date. Valuation gains and losses are credited (or 
debited) to the statement of financial activities with the balance sheet reflecting the revalued amounts. 
No depreciation is charged on investment properties. 

Investments in subsidiary companies are valued at cost with provision being made for any permanent 
diminution in value. 
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Programme-related loans 
Programme-related loans comprise loans made by the charity to other charitable organisations  
in furtherance of UCLH Charity’s objectives. These are included in the balance sheet at the 
recoverable amount. 

Fund structure 
General funds represent those monies which are freely available for application towards achieving any 
charitable purpose that falls within the charity’s charitable objects. The designated funds are monies or 
assets set aside out of general funds and designated for specific purposes by the trustees. Restricted 
funds are those for which a legal restriction exists over their use. Endowment funds consist of capital 
held in perpetuity where the related income may be used for unrestricted or restricted purposes as 
specified by the donor.

Cash at bank and in hand 
Cash at bank and in hand represents such accounts and instruments that are available on demand or 
have a maturity of less than three months from the date of acquisition. 

Pension costs 
Employees of the Old Charity at 31 March 2017 were entitled to join the NHS Pensions Scheme, an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not 
designed to be run in a way that would enable participating bodies to identify their share of the 
underlying Scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme: the cost to the charity of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period. 

The Scheme is a final salary scheme. Since 1 April 2015 there have been two separate pension schemes 
covering NHS workers. The 1995/2008 Scheme closed with effect from 1 April 2015 except for some 
members entitled to continue in this Scheme through ‘Protection’ arrangements. On 1 April 2015 a new 
NHS Pension Scheme was introduced. This new Scheme covers all former members of the 1995/2008 
Scheme not eligible to continue in that Scheme as well as new NHS employees on or after 1 April 2015. 

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years, and an IAS 19 accounting valuation 
every year. The valuation of scheme liability in accordance with IAS19 is carried out annually by the 
Scheme Actuary. The latest assessment of the liabilities of the Scheme is contained in the Scheme 
Actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Resource 
Account, published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website.

A defined contribution scheme has been set up for any employees who join the New Charity. Any 
contributions will be charged on a payable basis.

QS Enterprises Ltd contributes to the personal pension schemes of all employees, other than directors. 
Contributions are charged to the statement of financial activities as they become payable in accordance 
with the contribution rates agreed with the relevant employees. 

Leased assets 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to income on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

Assets held under finance leases, which are leases where substantially all the risk and rewards of 
ownership of the asset have passed to the company, are capitalised in the balance sheet and are 
depreciated over their useful lives. The capital elements of future obligations under finance leases are 
included as liabilities in the balance sheet. 

The interest elements of the rental obligations are charged to the statement of financial activities over 
the period of the leases and represent a constant proportion of the balance of capital repayments 
outstanding. 
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Debtors 
Debtors are recognised at their settlement amount, less any provision for non-recoverability. 
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid. They have been discounted to the present value of  
the future cash receipt where such discounting is material.

Creditors and provisions 
Creditors and provisions are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, 
and the amount of the settlement can be estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are recognised 
at the amount the charity anticipates it will pay to settle the debt. They have been discounted to the 
present value of the future cash payment where such discounting is material.

Financial instruments 
The charity only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and 
financial liabilities of the charity and their measurement basis are as follows:

Financial assets – other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments measured at 
amortised cost. Listed investments are a basic financial instrument as detailed above. Prepayments are 
not financial instruments.

Cash at bank – classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value.

Financial liabilities – accruals and other creditors are financial instruments, and are measured at 
amortised cost.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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01 Comparative consolidated statement of financial activities split between funds
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
          
         2017
      Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment   Total 
      Funds  Funds  Funds   Funds 
     Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000

 Income and endowments from:       
 Donations and legacies  2 9,468 2 – 9,470
 Charitable activities   1,339 – – 1,339
 Other trading activities
  Turnover of QS Enterprises Ltd  3 3,841  –  –  3,841
  Turnover of Inventive Medical Ltd   803  –  –  803
  Other fundraising activities   96  –  –  96
 Investments  5 4,227  83  –  4,310
 Other   9  –  –  9
 Total income   19,783  85  –  19,868

 Expenditure on:       
 Raising funds       
  Costs of generating donations and legacies    814  8  –  822
  Fundraising trading expenditure        
   Operating costs of QS Enterprises Ltd   3,025  –  –  3,025
   Operating costs of Inventive Medical Ltd   1,063  –  –  1,063
  Investment management costs       
   Costs of managing quoted investments   195  9  34  238
   Costs of managing, maintaining and  repairing investment  
   properties   793  2  –  795
   Bank interest and charges on loan relating  to investment  
   properties   157  –  –  157
 Charitable activities  6     
  Medical equipment and infrastructure costs   895  397  –  1,292
  Provision of staff and professional services   3,503  2  –  3,505
  Patient welfare and amenities   1,663  133  –  1,796
  Medical research   1,932  115 –  2,047
  Staff education and development   3,345  3 –  3,348
 Other   80  –  –  80
 Total expenditure   17,465  669 34  18,168

 Net gains on investments   9,478  184  739  10,401
 Net income/(expenditure)   11,796  (400) 705  12,101

 Transfers between funds   112  –  (112) –

 Other recognised losses       
 Losses on revaluation of fixed assets   (334) –  –  (334)

 Net movement in funds   11,574  (400) 593  11,767

 Reconciliation of funds       
 Total funds brought forward  18 135,792  2,911  6,110  144,813
 Total funds carried forward  18 147,366  2,511  6,703  156,580
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02 Donations and legacies

        2018 2017
     Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment   Total  Total 
     Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
      £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

 Donations  5,506 – – 5,506 5,932
 Legacies  906 – – 906 1,253
 Grants  2,547 – – 2,547 2,285
     8,959 – – 8,959 9,470

03  QS Enterprises Ltd
The charity’s wholly owned subsidiary, QS Enterprises Ltd, is incorporated in England and Wales (company number 
01850377). Its principal activity is the provision of clinical imaging services to patients of NHS and private hospitals. 
QS Enterprises Ltd donates its taxable profit, if any, to UCLH Charity. A summary of its results is shown below. 
Separately audited accounts for the company are filed with the Registrar of Companies. The share capital of QS 
Enterprises Ltd has a nominal value of £2.

     2018 2017
     Total   Total 
      £’000   £’000 

Turnover    4,536  3,841 
Operating expenses    (4,122) (3,010)
Audit fee    (15) (14)
Gift Aid payable    (237) (815)
Bank interest receivable     –  1 
Interest payable    (157) (2)
Profit for the year    5  1 
Reserves brought forward    57  56 
Reserves carried forward    62  57 

04 Inventive Medical Ltd
The charity’s wholly owned subsidiary, Inventive Medical Ltd, was incorporated in England and Wales (company 
number 06468381). Its principal activity was the development and sale of cardiac training aids. A summary of 
its results is shown below. The company was sold to Medaphor Group plc on 2 August 2016 and the information 
presented below shows transactions until this date.

         2018 2017
          4 months 
          Total  Total 
         £’000  £’000

Turnover      0  803 
Operating expenses      0  (1,057) 
Audit fee      0  (6) 
Interest payable      0  (20) 

Loss for the year      0  (280) 
Accumulated losses brought forward      0  (1,829) 
Accumulated losses carried forward      0  (2,109) 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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05 Investment income

         2018 2017 
     Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment   Total  Total 
     Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
      £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Investment properties  3,471  – –  3,471  3,002 
Listed investments  1,049  43 –  1,092  1,142 
Common deposit or common investment funds  –  34 –  34  33 
Investment cash  25  – –  25  33 
Other investments  30  – –  30  100 

    4,575  77 –  4,652  4,310 

06 Charitable activities
       Grant   
      Activities  funded  Support  2018 2017 
     undertaken  activities  costs  Total  Total 
     directly  (note 8)  (note 7)  Funds  Funds 
      £’000   £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000

Improvements to patient services      
 Medical equipment and infrastructure costs  312  –  12  324  1,292 
 Provision of staff and professional services  2,631  2,131  176  4,938  3,505 
 Patient welfare and amenities  1,322  1,001  86  2,409  1,796 

Medical research  1,554  1,600  116  3,270  2,047 
Staff education and development  2,856  –  105  2,961  3,348 

     8,675  4,732  495  13,902  11,988

The charity has a number of designated discretionary funds where decisions over spending are delegated to ward 
or consultant level, under the oversight of officers of the charity. Direct expenditure from these funds delivered a 
significant proportion of the activities of the charity. More details are given in the Report of the Trustees. 

07 Support costs – apportionment
     Staff &  Patient   Staff  Total  Total 
   Raising    professional  welfare &  Medical  welfare &  costs costs

Expenditure type Basis of apportionment  funds Equipment services amenities research amenities 2018 2017  
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Charity staff salaries Time  395  8  116  56  75 69  719  656 
Governance Proportional to salaries  41  –  7  4  5 4  61  77 
Premises costs Proportional to salaries  128  3  37  18  25 22  233  219 
Other office and Proportional to salaries  61  1  16  8  11 10  107  93 
sundry costs  

  625  12  176  86  116 105  1,120  1,045 

08 Analysis of grants
    2018  2017 

   Number of   Aggregate   Number of  Aggregate 
   grants  amount paid grants  amount paid 
    £’000   £’000 

Medical equipment and infrastructure costs  –   –  8  439 
Provision of staff and professional services  14  2,131  11  590 
Patient welfare and amenities  10  1,001  7  335 
Medical research  1  1,600  3  1,218 
Charitable activities  25  4,732  29  2,582 
Fundraising  2  508  1  140 

   27  5,240   30   2,722 

All grants were to UCL Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 



UCLH CHARITY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–18 39

09 Net movement in funds
  This is stated after charging:     2018 2017

   Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total Total 
   Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Staff costs (note 10) 2,182  –  –  2,182 2,032 
Auditors’ remuneration      
 Statutory audit services, charity only      
  Current year 24  –  –  24 22 

  Prior year –  –  –  – 5 
 Statutory audit services, subsidiary companies 15  –  –  15 20 

 Other services 11  – – 11 – 
Depreciation 684  –  –  684 311 
Amortisation –  –  –  – 138 
Deficit on disposal of fixed assets –  –  –  – 429 
Impairment of fixed asset –  –  –  – 140 
Operating lease charges 207  –  –  207 181 

10 Staff costs    2018 2017
        Total Total 
         Funds  Funds 
        £’000  £’000 

Wages and salaries      1,845  1,724 
Employer’s national insurance costs      206  200 
Pension costs      131 108 

           2,182  2,032 

 
    Headcount Full time equivalent

    2018 2017 2018 2017

The average number of employees, analysed by function, was: 
Charity employees  10 10  9  9 
Staff of trading subsidiaries  38  31  38 31 

    48   41  47  40 

The number of senior employees whose emoluments for the year amounted to £60,000 or more were:
     2018   2017

   Charity  Subsidiaries  Total  Charity  Subsidiaries  Total

£60,001 – £70,000 –  3   3 1 3 4 
£70,001 – £80,000 2  –  2  2 – 2 
£90,001 – £100,000 1  –  1   – – – 
£100,001 – £110,000 –  –  –  – 1 1 
£130,001 – £140,000 –  1  1  – – – 
£170,001 – £180,000  1   –  1  1 – 1 
£230,001 – £240,000 –   –  – – 1 1 

   4   1   8  4 5 9 

The key management personnel of the charity comprise the Chief Executive, the Development Director,  
the Charity Secretary and the Finance Director. The total remuneration paid to the key management  
personnel including employer’s national insurance and pension contributions was £503K (2017: £469K). 

Benefits were accruing to one of the above members of staff under the defined benefit pension scheme  
outlined under accounting policies (2017: one member of staff). Contributions of £11K (2017: £8K) were  
made to purchase defined contribution pension benefits on behalf of one of the above members of staff.

None of the trustees received remuneration during this or the preceding year. Expenses totalling £2,314  
were reimbursed to three trustees (2017: £1,506 to one trustee).

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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10  Staff costs (continued)
   The charity has purchased insurance to protect trustees from claims arising from negligent acts, errors  

or omissions occurring whilst on charity business. The insurance policy provides cover up to £3M (2017: £3M)  
and the cost for the year ended 31 March 2018 was £3K (2017: £3K).

11 Taxation
UCLH Charity is a registered charity and therefore is not liable to income tax or corporation tax on income  
derived from its charitable activities, as it falls within the various exemptions available to registered charities.  
Its wholly owned subsidiary, QS Enterprises Ltd, donates its taxable profits, if any, to the charity. 

12 Tangible assets
    Group

  Charity only    
     Furniture,
   Assets   medical &  
  Land &  under  Leasehold  office  Computer   
   buildings  construction   improvements  equipment  equipment  Total 
  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

Cost or valuation      
 Brought forward at 1 April 2017 8,026  13,146  2,240  270  499  24,181 

 Additions –  2,522  763  2,218  72  5,575 
 Revaluations 1,064  –  –  –  –  1,064 
 Balance at 31 March 2018 9,090  15,668  3,003  2,488  571  30,820 

Accumulated depreciation     
 Brought forward at 1 April 2017 334  –  1,065  204  424  2,027 

 Charge for the year  166   –  146  323  49  684 
 Revaluation  (500)   –   –   –   –  (500) 
 Balance at 31 March 2018 –  –  1,211  527  473  2,211 

Net book value at 31 March 2018 9,090  15,668  1,792  1,961  98  28,609 

Net book value at 31 March 2017 7,692  13,146  1,175  66  75  22,154

The total fixed assets held by the charity amounted to £24.758M (2017: £20.838M). Land and buildings  
are held by the charity only. They were revalued as at 31 March 2018 by an independent valuer using a  
term and reversion technique which values the existing income stream at an initial yield with a reversion  
to estimated rental value once the current income stream has expired. Assets under construction are  
held by the charity only. At 31 March 2018 the figure of £15.668M represented the purchase cost of the  
Middlesex Annexe and the associated planning and professional fees (2017: £13.146M). 

All other tangible assets relate to subsidiary undertakings.
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13 Listed investments and investment properties – group and charity
      Listed   Investment  2018 2017
       investments  property  Total Total
       £’000  £’000   £’000  £’000

Market value at 1 April   41,324  82,049  123,373  112,563 
Add: acquisitions at cost   7,509  1,215  8,724  5,759 
Less: disposals at carrying value   (7,990) (16,368) (24,358) (3,116)
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on revaluation   (520) 1,014  494  8,167 
Market value at 31 March   40,323  67,910  108,233  123,373 

Historic cost at 31 March   36,676  43,101  79,777   81,503 

Disposal proceeds during the year amounted to £24.3M (2017: £3.1M) and realised losses were £9,000 (2017: realised 
gains of £2.2M).

Analysis of listed investments and investment properties – group and charity:
       Held in the UK

          2018 2017
         Total Total 
           £’000  £’000 
          

Investment properties – charity        67,910  82,050 
Investments listed in the stock exchange or valued by reference to such investments    39,010  40,046 
Investments in common deposit or common investment funds      968  952 
Cash held as part of investment portfolio         345  325 
Total investments – group and charity        108,233  123,373 

The trustees consider the following individual investment holdings to be material:
     Listed Investment 
      investments  properties 
     £’000  £’000 

170 Tottenham Court Road, London     – 56,910
68 and 70 Huntley Street, London    – 4,400
69–75 Chenies Mews, London     – 6,600
Sarasin Alpha CIF for Endowments    18,385  –
Newton Growth and Income Fund for Charities    11,223  –
Sarasin medium term portfolio    7,001  –

14 Programme-related loans – group and charity     
         Total
          £’000 

At 1 April 2017      83 
Repayments during year      (13)
At 31 March 2018      70 

The charity has made an interest-free loan to the 52 Club, the UCLH staff sports and social club, to enable it  
to develop fitness studios and upgrade its fixtures and fittings. This loan is repayable by September 2022.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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15 Debtors
   Group    Charity

   2018 2017 2018 2017
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Amounts falling due within one year:      
Trade debtors  3,358  3,468  2,701  2,920 
Prepayments  351  327  149  180 
Accrued income  3,426  903  3,708  903 
Due from subsidiary undertakings   –  –  –  815 
Other debtors  2,574  2,790  2,558  2,786 
Total debtors falling due within one year  9,709  7,488  9,116  7,604 

Amounts falling due after more than one year:      
Due from subsidiary undertakings   –  –  2,500  1,002 
Total debtors falling due after more than one year  –  –  2,500  1,002 
Total debtors  9,709  7,488  11,616  8,606

16 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
   Group    Charity

   2018 2017 2018 2017
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

       

Trade creditors  480  439  416  337 
Other creditors  755  820  238  319 
Grant creditors  17,811  14,690  17,811  14,690 
Accruals  2,257  1,821  2,258  1,821 
Deferred income  164  296  164  296 
Finance lease creditor  268  16  –  – 

   21,735  18,082  20,887  17,463 

17a Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year – group only
         2018  2017
         £’000  £’000 

Finance lease creditor      1,615  19

All creditors falling due after more than one year relate to the charity’s subsidiary company, QS Enterprises Ltd.

17b Provisions for liabilities and charges – group only         
            £’000 

At 1 April 2017 and at 31 March 2018        75 

All provisions for liabilities and charges relate to the charity’s subsidiary company, QS Enterprises Ltd.
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18 Analysis of net movement in funds       
          Total
    Total funds     Transfers  Gains  funds 
     brought  Total  Total  between  and   carried 
     forward  income  expenditure funds  losses  forward 
    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  £000

Endowment funds        
 Otto Beit Fund 157  –  –  –  3  160 

 Dresden Assistance Fund 379  –  –  –  6  385
 UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund 213  –  –  –  4  217 
 Gordon Taylor Fund 224  –  –  –  4  228 
 David E Hughes Fund 1,755  –  (10) –  30  1,775 
 University College Hospital Fund 3,975  –  (23) –  22  3,974 
 Total endowment funds (group and charity) 6,703  –  (33) –  69  6,739 

Restricted funds        
 Otto Beit Fund 88  8  (2) –  1  95 

 Dresden Assistance Fund 210  20  (4) –  4  230
 UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund 962  36  (56) –  17  959 
 Gordon Taylor Fund 211  13  (13) –  3  214 
 CancerCare at UCLH Fund 95  –  –  –  –  95 
 Institute of Sport Fund 945  –  (47) –  –  898 
 Total restricted funds (group and charity) 2,511  77  (122) –  25  2,491 

Unrestricted funds        
 General funds 84,680  3,220  (4,980) (367) 333  82,886 

 Designated discretionary funds 49,862  8,758  (6,765) 327  1  52,183 
 Other designated funds 12,767  4,906  (4,756) 40  57  13,014 
 Revaluation reserve –  –  –  –  1,564  1,564 
 Total unrestricted funds, charity 147,309  16,884  (16,501) –  1,955  149,647 
 Trading company 57  4,256  (4,251) –  –  62 
 Total unrestricted funds, group 147,366  21,140  (20,752) –  1,955  149,709 

Total funds 156,580  21,217  (20,907) –  2,049  158,939

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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18 Analysis of net movement in funds (continued)     
  

Fund descriptions

Otto Beit Fund – to be applied for the benefit of patients suffering from arthritis and rheumatoid 
conditions.

Dresden Assistance Fund – to be applied for the benefit of inpatients of University College Hospital 
who are in need.

UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund – for the relief of patients who have been treated at any hospital of 
UCLH NHS Foundation Trust.

Gordon Taylor Fund – to be applied for the benefit of incapacitated nurses of the former Middlesex 
Hospital or of University College Hospital.

David E Hughes Fund – to be applied for the general purposes of University College Hospital.

University College Hospital Fund – to be applied for the general purposes of UCH.

CancerCare at UCLH Fund – for any charitable purposes of the University College London Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust relating to cancer research and the treatment and benefit and comfort of 
cancer patients.

Institute of Sport Fund – for the purpose of creating an Institute of Sport Exercise and Health, a 
facility for the treatment of athletes and people engaged in sports. 

Designated discretionary funds are funds operated on behalf of specific wards or consultants, 
where decisions over spending are delegated to ward or consultant level, under the oversight of 
officers of the charity. 

Other designated funds are funds which the trustees of the charity have chosen to designate for 
specific purposes. They include a fund held on behalf of the Royal London Hospital for Integrated 
Medicine, funds held for the National Hospital for Neurology and Neurosurgery as a result of the 
annual profit donated by QS Enterprises Ltd, various prize funds and funds created as a result of 
legacies given to the charity for specific purposes. 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



UCLH CHARITY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–18 45

19 Reconciliation of accumulated unrealised gains
         2018 2017
         £’000  £’000 

Unrealised gains included as part of net assets:     
On listed investments     3,647  5,373 
On investment properties     24,809  36,497 
Total unrealised gains at 31 March     28,456  41,870 

Reconciliation of movements in unrealised gains:       
Unrealised gains at 1 April      41,870  34,433 
Less: in respect to disposals in the year     (13,908) (730)
Add: unrealised gains in year     494  8,167 
Total unrealised gains at 31 March      28,456  41,870

20 Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating from operating activities
         2018 2017
         £’000  £’000 

Net movement in funds     2,359  11,767 
Amortisation charges      – 138 
Depreciation charges (note 12)     684  311 
Impairment of tangible fixed assets     – 140 
Gain on disposal of subsidiary     –  (1,919)
(Gains)/losses on revaluation of tangible fixed assets     (1,564) 334 
(Gains) on investments     (485) (8,168)
Dividends, interest and rents from investments     (4,652) (4,310)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets     –  (26)
Decrease in stocks     4  105 
(Increase)/decrease in debtors     (1,793) 1,303 
Increase/(decrease) in creditors and provisions     2,978  (4,232)
Cash (outflow) from operating activities     (2,469) (4,557)

21a Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases
      Land and buildings   Other   

      2018 2017 2018 2017
      £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

As at 31 March the group had total commitments under       
Non-cancellable operating leases which fall due:       
 within one year   341  329  117  51 

  within two to five years inclusive   1,199  1,268  53  – 
  over five years   1,383  689  –  – 
      2,923  2,286  170  51 

As at 31 March the charity had total commitments under       
Non–cancellable operating leases which fall due:       
 within one year   152  152  –  – 

  within two to five years inclusive   609  609  –  – 
  over five years   56  208  –  – 
      817  969  –  –

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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21b Commitments under finance leases – group only
         2018 2017
         £’000  £’000 

As at 31 March the group had total obligations under finance leases as follows:
Within one year (note 16) 268 16
Between one and five years (note 17a) 1,615 19
   1,883 35

All commitments under finance leases relate to the charity’s subsidiary company, QS Enterprises Ltd.

22 Other contractual commitments
As at 31 March 2018, the charity had contractual commitments of £0.2M for refurbishment costs in relation to 
investment properties contracted for but not accrued in the accounts at the year end (2017: £0.7M). 

23 Material legacies 
Legacies are accounted for as income either upon receipt or where the receipt of the legacy is probable and the amount 
can be determined with reasonable accuracy. As at 31 March 2018 the charity had been notified of four legacies (2017: 
five legacies) which were not included in income since the amount due to be received was not known.

24 Related party transactions
During the year none of the trustees or members of the key management staff or parties related to them undertook 
any material transactions with UCLH Charity.

The Essex Wynter Charity is a related party for UCLH Charity as the trustees of UCLH Charity appoint the trustees of 
the Essex Wynter Charity. The Essex Wynter Charity was charged a sum of £8K for the provision of accounting and 
administration services (2017: £8K). Its outstanding balance at the year end was £16K (2017: £17K).

The accounts do not include disclosure of transactions between the charity and its wholly owned trading subsidiaries 
due to the exemptions available under section 33 of FRS 102.
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THANK YOU

Fantastic to see investment in the New Surgery and Cancer Building. It is so 
needed in the UK as more and more people will require this facility in the future.

Best of luck for this very worthy cause.

Please accept this donation in memory of my dear friend who died at UCH last 
month, but received the best care while she was there.

Thanks for all the research into TTP, keep up the good work.

Thanks to the UCLH team for everything that you did for me, and for all the 
other TTP patients.

With grateful thanks for all the care the neonatal unit gave to my grandson.

A big thank you for all your amazing work and extra special thank you for 
looking after my lovey Jess Xx

Donating in gratitude to the amazing UCLH NHS staff, who we cannot thank 
enough for their professional and responsive care. Special thanks go to the A&E.

Donation made on the occasion of my sons 1st birthday. He was safely born at 
UCLH in January 2017 and I’m so grateful. I hope he always knows how lucky he 
is and gives back during his life.

In recognition of the excellent care provided to my son.

UCH makes a difference to so many people.

This is a fantastic cause. Well done for helping out with the successful 
implementation of the project.

To celebrate the wedding of Eddie and Lucy and in recognition of the wonderful 
support UCLH charity has provided to their friend Craig.

This donation is to recognise the care I received from the wonderful staff at 
UCLH from those at the Ambulatory Care at the Macmillan Cancer Centre 
to the team on T14 South in the Tower. The attention to detail was second 
to none and I felt in the best hands all the way through my recent stem-cell 
transplant.

We would like to give a special thank you to our wonderful 
supporters. As you can see from their comments here, they 
believe in UCLH as much as we do, and often support the charity 
to say thanks for care either they or a loved one has received.

GET INVOLVED

Thank you for taking the time to read 
through our annual report. All of the 
fantastic projects you have read about 
have been achieved thanks to the help of 
our amazing supporters. 

There are many ways you can become involved 
with UCLH Charity to help us improve more 
patients’ lives at UCLH:
• Make a one-off or regular donation
• Consider leaving a legacy to UCLH Charity
• Involve your company with UCLH Charity
• Fundraise for us



this page

We are contributing £30M 
to the new cancer and 
surgery centre
Our world-leading, state-
of-the-art treatment facility, 
which will include proton beam 
therapy, short-stay surgery, 
a critical care unit, imaging 
services and a blood disorders 
treatment centre.

back cover

Supporting people across 
UCLH, including new mothers 
and neonatal babies.
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